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INTRODUCTION

The National Cemetery
Administration (NCA) and the
burial benefits it is responsible for
providing to veterans and eligible
family members today originated
with the Civil War. It was the first
instance of any federal government
committing to inter the remains of
its troops in “national cemeteries.”
President Abraham Lincoln signed
the legislation assuring that Union
soldiers who “gave the last full
measure of devotion” to the nation
would be honored in perpetuity.

To commemorate the Civil War
sesquicentennial, 2011-2015, the
NCA History Program undertook
several educational and historic
preservation projects. Visitors to VA
national cemeteries, and to affiliated
soldiers lots established by the U.S.
government in private cemeteries,
are the beneficiaries of this one:

191 thematic interpretive signs that
depict local war-related activity,
explain why veterans are buried
there, and highlight Medal of Honor
recipients and memorials.

This project supports the NCA
Veterans Legacy Program, an
education outreach program begun
in 2014. Placement of signs at Civil
War-era national cemeteries, many
of which are remote, assure visitors
have access to accurate historic
information. Agencies are directed
to do this per the National Historic
Preservation Act, Section 110. The
signs reinforce VA’s responsibility
as steward of its oldest properties;
most are listed on the National
Register of Historic Places.

Each sign includes VA’s web address
so visitors may access VA benefit
information. The low-maintenance,
durable, and low-cost signs measure
36 inches x 24 inches and are
composed of a fiberglass-imbedded
panel in an aluminum frame. All
were installed in 2014-2015:
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« 78 national cemeteries
received a universal “NCA
History” sign (first image).

« 79 national cemetery
signs that expand on
site-specific significance.

18 signs where VA oversees
major Confederate
interments: 9 in
national cemeteries, 9 in
Confederate-only sites.

« 15 soldiers or government lots
contain site-specific signs.

The signs compiled in this
document are arranged
alphabetically by cemetery name;
see list, next page.

This document is also available
on-line through the NCA History
Program website: www.cem.va.gov/
history/index.asp.
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CEMETERY NAME AND LOCATION

A National Cemetery System..........ccceeeeeeeeeeennnnnee 4 Finn's Point [Salem, NJ].....cccoeeeiiiiieeieirinnnnnns 42-43 Mt. Pleasant S/L [Augusta, ME]........cceoeiuuiiieeeees 81
Albany Rural S/L [Albany, NY]......cccceeveiieeeennnennn. [ Florence [Florence, SC]......ccoovvvvvvvveveeeeveneennnnnnn. 44 Nashville [Madison, TN]......ccooeeeeeeeeieeeieeeeeeeeeeenns 82
Alexandria [Alexandria, VA] ...c.cccceeviiiiiiiiiiennnnens 6 Forest Hill S/L [Madison, WI]........cccccuvvrveeeeenn.n. 45 Natchez [Natchez, MS].......oovvuvevuireeieeiiieeeeeeeeeens 83
Alexandria [Pineville, LA] ccccooveeeeieeeiiieieiiieiiiennenns 7 Forest Home S/L [Milwaukee, WI] .................... 46 New Albany [New Albany, INJ .....ccccccceeeeeureennnn 84
Allegheny S/L [Pittsburgh, PA]......ccccceveeeeeennnnnne 8 Fort Gibson [Fort Gibson, OK]............cevvvveuennnn.. 47 New Bern [New Bern, NCl.....ccoeeeeeeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeennns 85
Alton [Alton, IL] ....ouueeeiiiiiiieeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeens 9 Fort Harrison [Fort Harrison, , VA]................... 48 North Alton Confederate [Alton, IL].................. 86
Annapolis [Annapolis, MD].......cccccuuriiieeeeeennnnnne 10 Fort Leavenworth [Fort Leavenworth, KS]........ 49 Oakdale S/L [Davenport, IA] ......cccccceverniiuunneeenens

Ashland S/L [Carlisle, PA]....ccccccevvveeeeeiieeeennen. 11 Fort McPherson [Maxwell, NE] Philadelphia [Philadelphia, PA]

Balls Bluff [Leesburg, VA]......ccccceevriieeenniuieennnnnee 12 Fort Scott [Fort Scott, KS] .................. Point Lookout Confederate

Barrancas [Barrancas, FL]......ccccccovvviveveeerueeennen. 13 Fort Smith [Fort Smith, AR] .cc.ccovvvvvviieienns [St. Mary's County, MD].......cccooovviiiiiininininnn. 90
Bath [Bath, NY....ooooorrrereeeemsnnneeseeessssnnenneeennns 14  Glendale [Richmond, VAl .........cccoosmmrrrrreeererrnnnne 54  PortHudson [Zachary, LAl ...ccciiiiiiiiivnnnnnss 91
Baton Rouge [Baton Rouge, LA]..........cc.ceenee..... 15  Grafton [Grafton, WV] .......ccoccovvevieeeeereeeeeenenns 55  Prospect Hill S/L [Brattleboro, VT]................... 92
Baxter Springs S/L [Baxter Springs, KS]............ 16  Green Mount S/L [Montpelier, VT].......c..c.......... 56  Prospect Hill S/L [York, PA] ..ccoooiiiniiniinninnnnn. 93
Beaufort [Beaufort, SCJ.........ccovvvvvivveerverrenennnnnnnn. 17 Hampton [Hampton, VA] .....cccccceeeeeviieeiniieeennnnes 57 Quincy [Quiney, IL].....c.occocoiciociinniciieiiiiinne 94
Beverly [Beverly, NJ]......ccccooeiiieieeeriereeneeneennene 18  Hampton VAMC [Hampton, VA] .......ccoeveueeneee. 58 Raleigh [Raleigh, NC] ..ooovviiiiiii 95

Camp Butler [Springfield, IL] ........c.ccocue..... 19 20  Hot Springs [Hot Springs, SD].....c.ccceeeeveereenennenn 59  Richmond [Richmond, VA]..... -~ 96

Camp Chase Confederate [Columbus, OH] ......... 21  Jefferson Barracks [St. Louis, MO]............... 60 61  RockIsland [RockIsland, IL] ................... =97
Camp Nelson [Nicholasville, KY].......cooouovemenne 22 Jefferson City [Jefferson City, MO].................... 62  RockIsland Confederate [Rock Island, IL]........ 98
Cave Hill [Louisville, KYT eveveeverereeerererereeseenns 23 Keokuk [KeOKUK, TA]..reoveoeerirereeeerereeereeseresseeens 63  Salisbury [Salisbury, NCl..ooooooiiiiiiniiiiininnnns 99
Chattanooga [Chattanooga, TN] .......c.cccccoeuvennn. 24  Knoxville [Knoxville, TNT.....cccceovvervevvereirrrennenn 64 San Antonio [San Antonio, TX].....cccccccevevnnen. 100
City Point [Hopewell, VA]........c.cccevvvvereereeerennenens 25 Leavenworth [Leavenworth, KS] ......cccoovvvennnen. 65 SanFrancisco [San Francisco, CA].....c.cccoee.... 101
Cold Harbor [Mechanicsville, VA] .....cccveeveennee.. 26  Lebanon [Lebanon, KY]...cooooevvreveenen. Santa Fe [Santa Fe, NM] ....ccccoovvniiiiiiiiininnnn. 102
Confederate Mound Oak Woods [Chicago, IL]....27  Lexington [Lexington, KY] . Seven Pines [Sandston, VA]......cccoooovviiininnnen. 103
Confederate Stockade [Sandusky, OH]............... 28 Little Rock [Little Rock, AR].....ccccecevvvieurenns 68 69 Springfield [Springfield, MO] .................... 104 105
Congressional [Washington, DCJ.........c.cc.......... 29  Los Angeles [Los Angeles, CA]..........ccoeuveueen..... 70 St Augustine [St. Augustine, FL]......ccccoornnev. 106
Corinth [Corinth, MS]....cocoeeevueeeereeeeeeeeeeeeeeens 30 Loudon Park [Baltimore, MD]....c.cceovveeeveeeeneennne. 71 Staunton [Staunton, VA].........cccooeniiiniininie, 107
Crown Hill [Indianapolis, INT........ccccoevveureneennnne. 31  Marietta [Marietta, GA].....c.ccceeveevuieveeevreeeeeneenns 72 Togus [Togus, ME] ....ccoovoviiiiniiiiiiiiiis 108
Crown Hill Confederate [Indianapolis, IN]....... 32  Marion [Marion, INT.....ccceoivevveeriinrienieereeeeeneenns 73 Union Confederate Monument

Culpeper [Culpeper, VAl......cccouveeeveeeiveeereeeireeanns 33  Memphis [Memphis, TNT .....cccceeevveerureenreenreennns 74 [Kansas City, MO ...ccerssvcursssnrssssnnese s 109
Cypress Hills [Brooklyn, NY] ...oovversrerrreee. 34-36  Mill Springs [Nancy, KY] ..ooooeveeoeeeeeeerseseseernn 75 Wilmington [Wilmington, NCJ.covoovrssvvrrseees 110
Danville [Danville, VAT ... evveeeeoeeeeeesseeeeeeerseee. 37 Mobile [Mobile, AL] weorveeeeeoeeeeeeeeeeeeesseeeeeee 46  Winchester [Winchester, VAJ .ooooorssvrssvrssen e
Danville [Danville, KY]...cccccoeeiiieeeniieeeeiiieeennne 38  Mound City [Mound City, IL] ...ccccceeervuvreernrreennnnn 77 Wood [Wood, WI .covssvvrsvvssvrssvrssens s 1=
Danville [Danville, IL] ....ccceeevvreeveeeireeereeereeenns 39  Mound City S/L [Mound City, KS] .....cccoveveennenn 78 Woodland §/L [Cleveland, OHJ..o.occosvvvrsevsn 13
Dayton [Dayton, OHJ ......cccecvevierivenreenueeuennnennes 40  Mountain Home [Mountain Home, TN].............. 79 Woodlawn [Elmira, NY]...occosverssvrsssersen 114 115
Fayetteville [Fayetteville, AR]........cccoeeuurrrvereennnn. 41 Mt. Moriah S/L [Philadelphia, PA]..................... 80 WERETEN G el 7SO

Monument [Terre Haute, IN].........covvvvuvennnnnnnn. 116



A NATIONAL CEMETERY SYSTEM

Civil War Dead

An estimated 700,000 Union and Confederate soldiers died in
the Civil War between April 1861 and April 1865. As the death
toll rose, the U.S. government struggled with the urgent but
unplanned need to bury fallen Union troops. This propelled the
creation of a national cemetery system.

On September 11, 1861, the War Department directed
commanding officers to keep “accurate and permanent records
of deceased soldiers.” It also required the U.S. Army
Quartermaster General, the office responsible for administering
to the needs of troops in life and in death, to mark each

grave with a headboard. A few months later, the department
mandated interment of the dead in graves marked with
numbered headboards, recorded in a register.

Soldiers’ graves near General Hospital, City Point, Va., c. 1863. Library of Congress.

Creating National Cemeteries

The authority to create military burial grounds came in an
Omnibus Act of July 17, 1862. It directed the president to
purchase land to be used as “a national cemetery for the
soldiers who shall die in the service of the country.” Fourteen
national cemeteries were established by 1862.

When hostilities ended, a grim task began. In October 1865,
Quartermaster General Montgomery C. Meigs directed officers
to survey lands in the Civil War theater to find Union dead
and plan to reinter

, , NATIONAL CEMETERY
them in new national 8 e PR 2
cemeteries. Cemetery
sites were chosen
where troops were
concentrated: camps,
hospitals, battlefields,
railroad hubs. By 1872,
74 national cemeteries
and several soldiers’ /
lots contained 305,492 -~
remains, about 45
percent were unknown.
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Knoxville was established after the siege of the city and
Battle of Fort Sanders in 1863. Cemetery plan, 1892,
National Archives and Records Administration.

Reflection and Memorialization

The country reflected upon the Civil War’s human toll—

2 percent of the U.S. population died. Memorials honoring
war service were built in national cemeteries. Most were
donated by regimental units, state governments and veterans’
organizations such as the Grand Army of the Republic.
Decoration Day, later Memorial Day, was a popular patriotic
spring event that started in 1868. Visitors placed flowers on

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs

National Cemetery Administration

graves and monuments, and gathered around rostrums to
hear speeches. Construction of Civil War monuments peaked
in the 1890s. By 1920, as the number of aging veterans was
dwindling, more than 120 monuments had been placed in
the national cemeteries.

National cemetery monuments, left to right: Massachusetts Monument, Winchester, Va., 1907;
Maryland Sons Monument, Loudon Park, Baltimore, Md., 1885; and Women’s Relief Corps/Grand
Army of the Republic Monument to the Unknown Dead, Crown Hill, Indianapolis, Ind., 1889.

Most cemeteries were less
than 10 acres, and layouts
varied. In the Act to Establish
and to Protect National
Cemeteries of February 22,
1867, Congress funded new | | e W
permanent walls or fences, : : S . @
grave markers, and lodges for 1 ,qee ar Ciry Point, Va,, pre-1928. The first floor

. contained a cemetery office, and living room and
Cemetery Sup erintendents. kitchen for the superintendent’s family; three

bedrooms were upstairs.

At first only soldiers and

sailors who died during the Civil War were buried in national
cemeteries. In 1873, eligibility was expanded to all honorably
discharged Union veterans, and Congress appropriated

$1 million to mark the graves. Upright marble headstones honor
individuals whose names were known; 6-inch-square blocks
mark unknowns.

By 1873, military post cemeteries on the Western frontier joined
the national cemetery system. The National Cemeteries Act of
1973 transferred 82 Army cemeteries, including 12 of the original
14, to what is now the National Cemetery Administration.

To learn more about benefits and programs
for Veterans and families, visit www.va.gov
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ALBANY RURAL SOLDIERS’ LOT
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Mourners at Alexandria National Cemetery, Virginia, c. 1865. After 1873, standard marble
headstones replaced the wood headboards seen here. Miller, Photographic History of the
Civil War (1910).

Civil War Dead

An estimated 700,000 Union and Confederate soldiers died
in the Civil War (1861-1865). As the death toll rose, the U.S.
government struggled with the urgent but unplanned need
to bury fallen Union troops. This propelled the creation of a
national cemetery system.

On September 11, 1861, the War Department directed officers

to keep “accurate and permanent records of deceased soldiers.”
Federal authority to create military burial grounds came in an
Omnibus Act of July 17, 1862. Cemetery sites were chosen where
troops were concentrated: camps, hospitals, battlefields, railroad
hubs. By 1872, 74 national cemeteries and several soldiers’ lots
contained 305,492 remains. About 45 percent were unknown.

The U.S. government established soldiers’ lots at private
cemeteries in northern states. National cemeteries, in contrast,
were built throughout the South where most Civil War action
occurred. While the army reported dozens of lots containing
Union dead in the 1870s, the National Cemetery Administration
maintains only fifteen. The number of graves ranges from less
than ten to nearly 400 in these lots.

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs

National Cemetery Administration

Albany at War

On April 12, 1861, Confederate forces fired on Fort Sumter,
South Carolina. The next day, the New York State Assembly
appropriated $3 million to raise and provision 30,000 troops
to help suppress the southern rebellion. Albany County

raised ten Union infantry regiments and one artillery battery
to fight the Civil War.

The area transportation network made the city a strategic
military crossroads. Thousands of soldiers traveled by rail
or river from Albany to New York City. There, they boarded
southbound steamships that took them to the battlefront.

In spring 1861, Gen. John F. Rathbone, commander of
the New York Militia, converted the Albany Industrial
School into a hospital and erected three new buildings on
the campus. Originally known as “The Barracks,” it later
became a U.S. General Hospital named in honor of New
York Senator Ira Harris.
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Undated photograph of Ira Harris U.S. General Hospital.
U.S. National Library of Medicine.
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Albany Rural Cemetery plan showing soldiers’ lot. Phelps, The Albany Rural Cemetery (1893).
Inset: Plan of the soldiers’ lot, 1866. National Archives and Records Administration.

Soldiers’ Lot

Albany Rural Cemetery was an early pastoral burial ground
established in 1844. In June 1862, the Albany Cemetery
Association donated a small parcel in Lot 7, Section 75, to

the U.S. government for the burial of Union dead. By 1868, it
contained the remains of 126 soldiers and two sailors. Most
had died in city hospitals, others were removed from southern
battlefields or hospitals. Today 149 men lie in this lot, the last
one buried in 1897.

In the 1870s, a Civil War monument was gradually erected
here. On Decoration (Memorial) Day 1872, the Grand Army
of the Republic Lew Benedict Post No. 5 dedicated a granite
pedestal and bust of President Abraham Lincoln. Four bronze
plaques, cast from melted cannon, name the “648 brave souls
from the county of Albany who gave their lives that the
country might live.” By 1875, the monument featured a bas-
relief medallion of Lincoln, and a bronze figure of a Union
soldier had replaced the bust.

To learn more about benefits and programs
for Veterans and families, visit www.va.gov
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ALEXANDRIA NATIONAL CEMETERY

Securing the Capital

On May 24, 1861, Gen. Winfield Scott ordered eleven
regiments of Union troops from Washington, D.C., across the

Potomac River, where they captured Arlington and Alexandria.

After their defeat in July at Manassas, Virginia, the Union
Army began constructing fortifications to protect the capital
city. Fort Albany, Battery Rogers, and Fort Ellsworth near
Alexandria anchored the southern end of Washington’s defenses.
The city became an important Union base of operations.
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Battery Rogers, Alexandria harbor, was one of ninety-three detached batteries that made up the
defenses of Washington, c. 1864. Library of Congress.

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs

National Cemetery Administration

Mansion House Hospital, at the intersection of North Fairfax and Cameron streets, c. 1864.
Library of Congress.

Military Hospitals

The influx of troops to Alexandria prompted the need for
military hospitals. Thousands of sick and wounded Union
soldiers were treated in area hospitals throughout the Civil
War. The army opened Mansion House Hospital, Old General
Hospital, Sickel General Hospital, and Slough Barracks
General Hospital. It also established a large convalescent
camp in Alexandria for soldiers who were discharged from the
hospital but were still recovering.

Beginning in March 1863, the federal government began
actively recruiting black men for the Union Army. A few
months later, the War Department created the Bureau of
United States Colored Troops (USCT). USCT regiments
fought in battles and engagements from Virginia to Texas.
L’Overture General Hospital, designed by the Quartermaster
Department, opened in Alexandria in February 1864 for the
treatment of black soldiers and civilians.

The First National Cemeteries

Despite the numerous medical facilities in Alexandria, many
soldiers died. The federal government acquired 4 acres
adjoining the city cemeteries in 1862 to bury the dead.
Initially it was known as Soldiers Cemetery. In 1871, the
Quartermaster Department built a Second Empire-style lodge
of Seneca sandstone at the entrance. A matching stone wall
enclosed the cemetery. Today, Alexandria National Cemetery

is the final resting place of about 4,000 individuals, including
280 USCT soldiers.

A simple boulder monument with a bronze plaque, erected
in 1922, honors four civilian employees of the U.S. Army
Quartermaster Corps. The men drowned attempting to cross
the Potomac River on April 24, 1865, while pursuing John
Wilkes Booth, President Abraham Lincoln’s assassin. Their
graves are located near the monument.

T L
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Entrance to Alexandria National Cemetery, 1869. Natzonal Archzves and Records Admzmstratzon

To learn more about benefits and programs
for Veterans and families, visit www.va.gov
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ALEXANDRIA NATIONAL CEMETERY

Civil War Alexandria

Alexandria, Louisiana, served briefly as the headquarters

of the Confederate Department of the Trans-Mississippi,

a vast area encompassing states and territories west of the
Mississippi River.

In spring 1863, the Confederates moved this base north

to Shreveport, just before a U.S. Army-Navy operation
captured Alexandria on May 7. Union forces abandoned the
city by summer.

In spring 1864, Alexandria became the target of Union
Gen. Nathaniel Banks’ Red River Campaign. In March, a
combined land and sea operation captured Fort DeRussy,
downriver from the city, and the Union reoccupied the city.

Banks marched west where he was defeated by Confederate
troops under Gen. Richard Taylor. He then retreated to
Alexandria on April 9, where low river levels trapped the naval
fleet. Troops constructed a dam to raise the water level and the
gunboats escaped. The Union Army withdrew from Alexandria
on May 13, burning part of the city as they departed.
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Union gunboats float over the dam at Alexandria. Harper’s Pictorial History of the Civil
War (1894).

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs

VA

National Cemetery Administration
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Superintendent’s lodge, 1895. National Archives and Records Administration.

National Cemetery

In 1867, the federal government established Alexandria
National Cemetery on 8.24 acres seized from a private
citizen. By 1874, there were 1,283 interments here. All but
twelve graves contained the remains of Union soldiers or
sailors. The majority were buried as unknowns.

By 1880, a brick wall surrounded the cemetery. A brick
Second Empire-style lodge housed the superintendent

and his family. Large artillery pieces flanked the cemetery
entrance. Trees planted along the road created a shady
avenue from the main gate to the flagstaff at the center of the
cemetery. In 1931, the old lodge was razed and the current
one was constructed.

Moving the Brownsville Dead

In July 1906, the all-black 25th U.S. Infantry arrived at Fort
Brown near Brownsville, Texas, for duty. These soldiers
experienced discrimination and physical abuse in the town.
On August 13, 1906, unknown persons killed a bartender and
wounded a police officer. The soldiers were accused but denied
any involvement. The army summarily discharged “without
honor” all 167 enlisted men. As a result of the incident, the
War Department decided to close the fort and remove the
remains from Brownsville National Cemetery. The former post
cemetery, established during the Mexican-American War, had
been designated a national cemetery in 1867.

Workers remove remains from Brownsville National Cemetery, Texas, c. 1909.
Brownsuille Historical Society.

In 1909, a contractor, using local labor, exhumed more
than 3,000 dead from this cemetery. Five freight-train cars
transported the remains to Alexandria. The identified
remains were interred along the northwest wall, and the area
designated Section B. Unknown remains were placed in a
mass grave on the southeast side of the flagpole circle. The
federal government erected a group monument on this grave.

To learn more about benefits and programs
for Veterans and families, visit www.va.gov
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ALLEGHENY SOLDIERS” LOT
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Mourners at Alexandria National Cemetery, Virginia, c. 1865. After 1873, standard marble
headstones replaced the wood headboards seen here. Miller, Photographic History of the
Civil War (1910).

Civil War Dead

An estimated 700,000 Union and Confederate soldiers died
in the Civil War (1861-1865). As the death toll rose, the U.S.
government struggled with the urgent but unplanned need
to bury fallen Union troops. This propelled the creation of a
national cemetery system.

On September 11, 1861, the War Department directed officers

to keep “accurate and permanent records of deceased soldiers.”
Federal authority to create military burial grounds came in an
Omnibus Act of July 17, 1862. Cemetery sites were chosen where
troops were concentrated: camps, hospitals, battlefields, railroad
hubs. By 1872, 74 national cemeteries and several soldiers’ lots
contained 305,492 remains. About 45 percent were unknown.

The U.S. government established soldiers’ lots at private
cemeteries in northern states. National cemeteries, in contrast,
were built throughout the South where most Civil War action
occurred. While the army reported dozens of lots containing
Union dead in the 1870s, the National Cemetery Administration
maintains only fifteen. The number of graves ranges from less
than ten to nearly 400 in these lots.

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs

National Cemetery Administration

Pittsburgh at War

When President Abraham Lincoln issued a call for
volunteers on April 12, 1861, to suppress the southern
rebellion, the quota for Pittsburgh was 3,277 men. More
than 11,000 came forward. Forty companies raised from
Allegheny County remained at Camp Wilkins, which was
established on the city’s fairgrounds. In August 1861,

the U.S. Army took charge of the camp and mustered the
men into Union service.

The area’s river network transported thousands of men
and tons of supplies to the battlefront. City foundries
produced in excess of 1,100 cannon—nearly 15 percent of
all artillery made for the U.S. Army during the Civil War.

Pittsburgh rallied for the war effort. In fall 1861, citizens
formed a subsistence committee. Members served more
than 400,000 meals to soldiers who passed through the
city. Mercy Hospital, established in 1847 by the Sisters of
Mercy, a Roman Catholic order of nuns, filled with sick
and wounded soldiers. Overcrowding at Mercy led the
federal government to establish a military hospital in 1862
at West Pennsylvania Hospital.
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Allegheny Arsenal, in Pittsburgh’s Lawrenceville neighborhood, manufactured cartridges and

other ammunition for the Union. An explosion on September 12, 1862—the same day as the
Battle of Antietam, Maryland—killed 78 workers, most young women. Many were buried
together at Allegheny Cemetery. Archives Service Center, University of Pittsburgh.

of
ALLEGHENY CEMETERY

Pittsburgh, Pa.

Allegheny Cemetery plan, 1947, with soldiers’ lot shaded green. The 103rd anniversary
commemorative booklet. Inset: Soldiers’ lot plan, 1956. National Cemetery Administration.

Soldiers’ Lot

Allegheny Cemetery, incorporated in 1844, is an early rural-style
burial ground. In 1862, the Allegheny Cemetery Association set
aside a lot in Section 33 for the free burial of U.S. soldiers who
died during the Civil War. Some 236 Union soldiers and several
Confederate prisoners were eventually interred here. In 1875,
the federal government obtained a deed for the land.

The next year, the Allegheny County Ladies Memorial
Association erected a monument in the lot. Pittsburgh artist
Fred Mayer designed the 16-foot-tall sandstone sculpture
composed of an allegorical figure of “Grief” atop a pedestal.
Bas-relief carvings of soldiers and sailors alternate with bronze
plaques on the pedestal. Four carved mortars—small, blunt
artillery—anchor the base.

The graves in this lot feature standard government-issued
marble headstones. Union dead are marked by a rounded-top
design approved in 1873, and Confederate dead by pointed-
top headstones, first used in 1901.

To learn more about benefits and programs
for Veterans and families, visit www.va.gov
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ALTON NATIONAL CEMETERY

Civil War Alton

In spring 1861, pro-Confederate militia in St. Louis, Missouri,

threatened to capture the U.S. arsenal there. Union forces

in Illinois commandeered the steamboat City of Alton, sailed
south, and at midnight on April 25, tied up at the St. Louis
wharf. Under the command of Capt. James B. Stokes,

700 volunteer soldiers loaded 21,000 small arms, artillery,
gunpowder, and ammunition aboard, then steamed back to
Alton. From there, the supplies went by rail to Springfield,
[llinois. Later, these would be distributed to Union regiments.

Over the course of the Civil War, some 4,450 Madison County
residents formed twenty companies in thirteen Illinois
regiments. The Union Army maintained a garrison and
hospital in Alton. Women volunteered as nurses and in 1863
formed the Ladies’ Loyal League of Alton. Members knitted
socks and organized a fair that raised money to send food
and other necessities to soldiers. Alton Military Prison, a

converted state penitentiary, housed Confederate prisoners of
war from 1862 into 1865.
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Twentieth-century lithograph of steamboats City of Alton (left) and Robert E. Lee (right),
by Carole Krite. Courtesy Missouri History Museum, St. Lous.

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs

National Cemetery Administration
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Early twentieth-century view of soldiers’ lot. National Archives and Records Administration.

National Cemetery

A soldiers’ lot in Alton City Cemetery served as the first burial ground for
Union soldiers who died in the military hospital and aboard riverboats.
By 1866 there were 163 graves here, twelve unknown. Because the lot was
located within the city cemetery, a superintendent was not needed. The
government paid the city $30 per year to maintain its graves. They were
marked with permanent marble headstones in the late 1870s.

After lengthy negotiation, the U.S. Army took title to the 0.48-acre
parcel in 1940. In exchange, it agreed to build a rostrum. An Art Deco-
style entrance with speaker’s stand was completed in 1941 using Works
Projects Administration funds in excess of $20,000. During this time,
forty-nine Union soldiers interred elsewhere in the city cemetery were
moved here. In 1948, the lot was designated a national cemetery.

Grand Army of the
Republic Monument

In 1890, Alton Post No. 441 of the
Grand Army of the Republic (GAR), a
Union veterans’ organization, erected a
monument overlooking the soldiers’ lot.

The monument consisted of an artillery

tube atop a rough-faced granite base.

One side was inscribed “The Union Dead,”
the other “Dulce et decorum est pro patria
mori” (It is sweet and glorious to die for

| one’s country).

" ARG Sl P, p bt -
L Y 28 . ; e
-t [ « w7

VA i S T W i s .
P 0‘-"-.. = - S

o —— b I
", & ()
Yl Yy ¥
v

~

t

v it o € Byl T 4 - I
g,_‘- - . (. g e &3
41 LY e o, ol g% L "_' O s v
y b ’
H

X,
|

,.
B4 )/

Tk
p o 80N o
. row 4 ...Q
3‘" i “""‘."?é LA

- 1w
e is “1°

N THE UNION

NEAD

neither of which survive. National Archives and Records Administration.

To learn more about benefits and programs
for Veterans and families, visit www.va.gov
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ANNAPOLIS NATIONAL CEMETERY

Civil War Annapolis

In April 1861, Gen. Benjamin Butler and his Massachusetts
troops entered the Maryland capital to ensure the state remained
in the Union. The U.S. Army then formed the Department of
Annapolis, headed by Butler, to secure communication between
the North and Washington, D.C. By summer, the U.S. Naval
Academy was converted into a hospital. As Civil War fighting
along the eastern seaboard intensified, St. John’s College became
a second hospital.

Annapolis also served as a parole camp. Union and Confederate
forces exchanged prisoners on a one-for-one basis. Some were
confined, others paroled and released. Paroled soldiers swore
an oath to not take up arms until they were formally exchanged.
Union authorities wanted their men available as soon as they
were exchanged, so the U.S. Army housed the parolees in camps
instead of allowing them to go home. At one time, Camp Parole

near Annapolis housed 25,000 Union soldiers awaiting exchange.

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs

National Cemetery Administration

U.S. Naval Academy buildings used as a U.S. General Hospital during the war, c. 1864.

Library of Congress.
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National Cemetery

In 1862, the government leased 4 acres from Judge Nicholas
Brewer. This land became Annapolis National Cemetery.
Men who died at Camp Parole or the city’s military hospitals
occupy most of the graves. An 1868 army inspection listed
2,661 burials, including seven civilians, three female nurses,
one Russian sailor, and one child. By the 1874 inspection,
the list had been revised to 2,482 burials, including 211
unknowns and fourteen citizens. In the 1910s, a federal
commission identified a few Confederate prisoner-of-war
dead buried in the cemetery, and their graves were marked
with distinctive pointed-top headstones.

The irregular-shaped cemetery occupies rolling land enclosed
by a stone wall. Originally burial sections were separated by
grass paths, and a central drive extended from the main gate,
around the flagstaff mound, to the opposite wall. The original
1871 lodge was razed and replaced in 1940 with a Colonial
Revival-style building. The old gates, too narrow for modern
automobile access, were replaced at the same time.

Postcard view of Annapolis National Cemetery, c. 1912, showing entrance, lodge, and tool house.
National Cemetery Administration.

To learn more about benefits and programs
for Veterans and families, visit www.va.gov
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ASHLAND SOLDIERS” LOT

[t 3.-‘ 1 ¥ L] £\

Mourners at Alexandria National Cemetery, Virginia, c. 1865. After 1873, standard marble
headstones replaced the wood headboards seen here. Miller, Photographic History of the
Civil War (1910).

Civil War Dead

An estimated 700,000 Union and Confederate soldiers died
in the Civil War (1861-1865). As the death toll rose, the U.S.
government struggled with the urgent but unplanned need
to bury fallen Union troops. This propelled the creation of a
national cemetery system.

On September 11, 1861, the War Department directed officers

to keep “accurate and permanent records of deceased soldiers.”
Federal authority to create military burial grounds came in an
Omnibus Act of July 17, 1862. Cemetery sites were chosen where
troops were concentrated: camps, hospitals, battlefields, railroad
hubs. By 1872, 74 national cemeteries and several soldiers’ lots
contained 305,492 remains. About 45 percent were unknown.

The U.S. government established soldiers’ lots at private
cemeteries in northern states. National cemeteries, in contrast,
were built throughout the South where most Civil War action
occurred. While the army reported dozens of lots containing
Union dead in the 1870s, the National Cemetery Administration
maintains only fifteen. The number of graves ranges from less
than ten to nearly 400 in these lots.

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs

National Cemetery Administration

Carlisle at War

After Confederate forces fired on Fort Sumter, South
Carolina, in April 1861, the men of Carlisle responded

to the national call to put down the southern rebellion.
Four companies of Pennsylvania infantry and five cavalry
companies were organized here. Carlisle Army Barracks,
just outside of town, included a Quartermaster and
Ordnance Depot, and U.S. Cavalry training facility.

The Civil War reached Carlisle in June 1863. Confederate
cavalry briefly occupied the town, taking from its citizenry
supplies for both men and horses. Soon after, Confederate
infantry arrived at the deserted U.S. Army barracks. Within
a few days the rested and fed Confederates departed.

On July 1, Union forces set up artillery in Carlisle. When
Confederate forces arrived and demanded their surrender,
they declined. The Confederates burned Carlisle Barracks
that night and departed. After the Battle of Gettysburg,

50 miles to the south, buildings at Dickenson College and
many others in town served as temporary hospitals.

Confederate forces attack Carlisle. Harper’s Weekly Magazine (July 25, 1863).

NMEPD e,

Detail from Atlas of Cumberland
County, Pennsylvania (1872) showing
Ashland Cemetery. The soldiers’

lot is located on the west perimeter.
Above: View of south end of lot in 1935.
The mass grave is located beyond the
cannon. National Archives and Records
Administration.

Military Burials

Ashland Cemetery was established in 1865 on 12 acres. The
soldiers’ lot was acquired by the federal government in March
1866. An 1870 army inspection reported thirty-eight graves in
the rectangular 0.2-acre lot. In May 1871, burials from Carlisle
Barracks Post Cemetery were moved here. More than 300 sets
of remains were recovered, far more than expected.

In the 1930s, the army tried to determine the number of
unknown dead buried in the north end of the lot in order to
erect a monument on the mass grave. Eventually, a standard
government headstone, inscribed “500 Unknown U.S. Soldiers,”
was installed. Later research identified thirty-five of the dead.

A granite monument with a bronze plaque inscribed with these
names replaced the headstone in 1960.

Today, the soldiers’ lot contains twenty-three individual
graves. Civil War Medal of Honor recipient Pvt. Jacob Cart,
7th Pennsylvania Reserve Infantry, is memorialized here. He

captured a Confederate regimental flag at Fredericksburg,
Virginia, on December 13, 1862 (Section 22, Row D, Site 24).

To learn more about benefits and programs
for Veterans and families, visit www.va.gov
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BALL’S BLUFF NATIONAL CEMETERY

Battle of Ball’s Bluff

On October 20, 1861, Maj. Gen. George B. McClellan,
commander of the Army of the Potomac, ordered

Brig. Gen. Charles P. Stone to scout Confederate forces on
the Virginia side of the Potomac River near Leesburg.

Early on the morning of October 21, Union forces crossed
the river to attack what was reported to be an unguarded
Confederate camp. Instead, they came upon Southern

troops under the command of Confederate Col. Nathan
“Shanks” Evans and fighting ensued.
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Union soldiers recover comrades’ bodies from the Potomac River, c. 1861. Library of Congress.

Senator Baker’s Command

Stone ordered Col. Edward Baker, a U.S. senator, to Ball’s Bluff
to take charge of Union forces. Baker attempted to reinforce
the troops but was delayed crossing the Potomac River. Only
four small boats were available to transport soldiers. This extra
time allowed Evans to call in additional Confederate forces
from Leesburg. By late afternoon Baker was dead. Panicked
Union soldiers retreated. Many drowned as they tried to swim

across the river. The Union dead were buried on the battlefield
in shallow, hastily dug graves.

Creating a National Cemetery

In April 1862, a surgeon with the Pennsylvania Volunteers was
sent to Ball’s Bluff to identify their dead. He reported graves in
poor condition scattered on the bluff, and that it was impossible
to “determine the State to which the bodies had belonged.”

In 1865, Lt. Col. James M. Moore, U.S. Army, recommended
the “remains be disinterred, and removed to a suitable site on
the bluff; and their graves be marked Unknown United States

Soldiers, killed October 21st, 1861.”

By 1871, the remains of fifty-four soldiers had been interred
in twenty-five graves arranged in a semi-circle around a
central path. A red sandstone wall was built to enclose the
cemetery. Attempts to have the remains moved to Arlington
National Cemetery, the last in 1882, were ultimately rejected.
Pvt. James Allen, Co. H, 15th Massachusetts Infantry, is the
only known burial in the second-smallest national cemetery.
The battlefield and cemetery were designated a National

Historic Landmark in 1984.
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Cemetery landscape plan, 1902. National Archives and Records Administration.

To learn more about benefits and programs

for Veterans and families, visit www.va.gov
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BARRANCAS NATIONAL CEMETERY

Early U.S. Military Presence

In 1825, President John Quincy Adams ordered
the creation of a naval station at Pensacola, Florida
Territory. The Pensacola Navy Yard opened the
following year.

National Cemetery

In 1868, the Quartermaster Department advised that the
hospital cemetery be expanded to create Barrancas National
Cemetery. Troops who died in Florida during the Civil War
were reinterred in the 7-acre cemetery—soldiers on the west side

and sailors on the east. Remains from coastal Escambia, Jackson,
and Washington counties were later buried here. Seventy-two
Confederate soldiers who died during the South’s brief
occupation of Pensacola are also interred here.

The first U.S. Naval Hospital was built here to treat
victims of malaria, yellow fever, and other tropical
diseases common to the Gulf Coast. A cemetery
was established soon after.

The War Department improved the naval defenses
in 1839 by building Fort Barrancas near the small
hospital cemetery.

Confederates encamped near Pensacola Navy Yard, spring 1861. Library of Congress.

Civil War Pensacola

As Southern states were voting to secede from the Union, the
small federal garrison at Pensacola abandoned mainland forts.
Troops fled to Fort Pickens on Santa Rosa Island in the Gulf
of Mexico. In February 1861, Confederate troops commanded
by Gen. Braxton Bragg occupied the abandoned U.S. forts,
including Fort Barrancas and the Pensacola Navy Yard. An
uneasy truce held until April 12, 1861, when Confederate

‘‘‘‘‘

troops fired on Fort Sumter, South Carolina, and the Civil War
began. Confederate forces attacked Fort Pickens on October 9,
1861. They captured an outlying Union camp but not the fort.
Union batteries shelled the ships ferrying Confederate soldiers
back to Pensacola. In early 1862, Confederate forces retreated
to Mobile, Alabama. The U.S. Navy then held Pensacola for the

remainder of the war.

National cemetery entrance and brick wall are visible beyond the original wood gates, 1904.
National Archives and Records Administration.

The cemetery superintendent lived at Fort Barrancas until the
U.S. Army constructed a lodge on the grounds in 1868. An

N 8-foot-tall brick wall was erected around the cemetery the next
oo asn T year. The cemetery continued to change in the twentieth century.
L Tag LSS A replacement lodge was built in 1904 and razed in 1996.
- ;&;'ijg‘; In 1950, the U.S. Navy transferred 20-plus acres to the army to
| e\ i expand the cemetery. It contained Warrington Cemetery, a burial

ground the navy created in 1935 when it consolidated several
civilian cemeteries scattered through the navy yard. No burials
have occurred in the civilian cemetery since.
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U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs To learn more about benefits and programs

National Cemetery Administration for Veterans and families, visit www.va.gov
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BATH NATIONAL CEMETERY

Soldiers’ and Sailors’ Home

In 1872, the New York legislature passed an unfunded
bill to create the New York Soldiers’ and Sailors’ Home.
The Grand Army of the Republic, a Union Army
veterans group, raised money to construct the first

three buildings. The State Home served its first meal on
Christmas Day 1878.

The campus grew to contain more than 100 structures
on almost 400 acres. In 1906, the population reached

2,187. By 1928, the death rate of aging Civil War
veterans reduced the resident population to 192.
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National Archives and Records Administration.

In 1929, the federal government assumed responsibility
for the facility and it became the Bath Branch of the
National Home for Disabled Volunteer Soldiers. It was
the last of eleven National Homes designated since 1865.

The National Homes were merged with the U.S. Veterans
Bureau and Bureau of Pensions to form the Veterans

Administration (now the U.S. Department of Veterans
Affairs) in 1930.

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs

National Cemetery Administration
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Postcard view of the 1894 monument and cemetery, 1911. National Cemetery Administration.

National Cemetery

The first burial was Pvt. William C. Terrell in 1879. By 1912, an
estimated 4,225 Civil War veterans lay in the cemetery, including
former members of U.S. Colored Troops. Among those interred here
is Pvt. Robert Knox Sneden, who chronicled the Civil War in colorful
drawings and maps.

Sneden served in the Army of the Potomac as a topographical engineer.
In November 1863 he was captured and spent thirteen months in
Confederate prisons, including Andersonville, Georgia. After his
December 1864 release, the army discharged him. Sneden returned
to New York City and compiled a memoir and scrapbook of images

documenting his military service. He entered the State Home in 1904,
and died there in 1918 (Section J, Row 11, Grave 14).
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Rebel Battery in the Potomac River, 1862, by Pvt. Robert Knox Sneden. Virginia Historical Society.

Medal of Honor Recipients

Five Civil War recipients of the Medal of Honor are
buried in the cemetery. First bestowed in 1863, it is
the highest award for military valor in the U.S. Armed
Services. For acts above and beyond the call of duty,
1,522 individuals who served in the Civil War received
the medal.

Pvt. George Grueb, 158th New
York Infantry, was commended for
gallantry at the Battle of Chaffin’s
Farm, Virginia, September 29, 1864
(Section A, Row 2, Grave 3).

Sgt. John Kiggins, 149th New York
Infantry, saved men from friendly
fire at Lookout Mountain,
Tennessee, November 24, 1863
(Section H, Row 32, Grave 9).

Pvt. George Ladd, 22nd New
York Cavalry, captured a
Confederate color guard, flag,
and horse at Waynesboro,
Virginia, March 2, 1865
(Section C, Row 6, Grave 6).

Civil War Army Medal of Honor.
Gettysburg National Military Park.

Sgt. Charles E. Morse, 62nd New York Infantry, seized
the colors from a wounded sergeant and, though soon

injured, carried them during the Battle of the Wilderness,
Virginia, May 5, 1864 (Section J, Row 4, Grave 24).

Seaman James Roberts, U.S.S. Agawam, was among

the crew of a powder boat detonated near Fort Fisher,
North Carolina, December 23, 1864 (Section I, Row 26,
Grave 2).

To learn more about benefits and programs
for Veterans and families, visit www.va.gov
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BATON ROUGE NATIONAL CEMETERY

Civil War Baton Rouge

Control of the Mississippi River and New Orleans was vital to
the Union war effort. In April 1862, Union gunboats steamed
up the river. The vessels evaded the guns of Confederate-held
forts located below New Orleans, and the city surrendered
without a fight on April 28.
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Union vessels anchored at Baton Rouge, March 1863. Library of Congress.

Knowing that Baton Rouge would fall next, Louisiana Gov.
Thomas O. Moore ordered that all cotton stored in the city be
moved or burned. Residents of the capital city fled as barges
of blazing cotton were set adrift on the river. The Union Army
captured Baton Rouge on May 7, 1862.

That August, the ironclad gunboat C.S.S. Arkansas and infantry
commanded by Confederate Gen. John C. Breckinridge
attempted to retake the city. On August 5, the Confederates
successfully pushed Union troops to the city’s outskirts. When
fighting resumed the next day, the Union held the line and

the Confederates retreated. Baton Rouge remained in federal
control for the rest of the war.

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs

National Cemetery Administration

Postcard view of cemetery, after 1910. National Cemetery Administration.

National Cemetery

Union soldiers killed in the Battle of Baton Rouge were
the first burials here. Soldiers and sailors who died in city
hospitals followed. The property was designated Baton
Rouge National Cemetery in 1867.

The federal government enlarged the cemetery by purchasing
an additional 8 acres. The U.S. Army removed the remains
of soldiers buried in Plaquemine and Iberville parishes and
Camden, Arkansas, and reinterred them here.

Improvements in the 1870s included a Second Empire-style
brick superintendent’s lodge, flagstaff, and gun monuments
flanking the entry road. The lodge was replaced in 1931.

Section 3 contains several private, pre-Civil War burials from
the old Baton Rouge Army Post Cemetery. In 1882, remains
from that cemetery were exhumed and reinterred here.

Massachusetts Monument

Massachusetts funded a monument to honor its Civil War
troops—thirteen infantry regiments and seven artillery
batteries—who served in the U.S. Army Department of the
Gulf. The 40-foot-tall granite obelisk was built by J. N. White

and Sons of Quincy, Massachusetts, at a cost of $5,000.

On November 15, 1909, Massachusetts Gov. Ebenezer
Draper, with fifty-nine officials and Union veterans, travelled
to Baton Rouge to dedicate the monument. Louisiana Gov.
Jared Y. Sanders and Baton Rouge Mayor Robert L. Pruyn
participated in a ceremony that included music, speeches, a
military salute, and the playing of “Taps.”

Dedication of the Massachusetts Monument, 1909. John Teunisson Photograph Collection,
Louisiana State Museum.

To learn more about benefits and programs
for Veterans and families, visit www.va.gov
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BAXTER SPRINGS SOLDIERS’ LOT
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Mourners at Alexandria National Cemetery, Virginia, c. 1865. After 1873, standard marble
headstones replaced the wood headboards seen here. Miller, Photographic History of the
Civil War (1910).

Civil War Dead

An estimated 700,000 Union and Confederate soldiers died
in the Civil War (1861-1865). As the death toll rose, the U.S.
government struggled with the urgent but unplanned need
to bury fallen Union troops. This propelled the creation of a
national cemetery system.

On September 11, 1861, the War Department directed officers

to keep “accurate and permanent records of deceased soldiers.”
Federal authority to create military burial grounds came in an
Omnibus Act of July 17, 1862. Cemetery sites were chosen where
troops were concentrated: camps, hospitals, battlefields, railroad
hubs. By 1872, 74 national cemeteries and several soldiers’ lots
contained 305,492 remains. About 45 percent were unknown.

The U.S. government established soldiers’ lots at private
cemeteries in northern states. National cemeteries, in contrast,
were built throughout the South where most Civil War action
occurred. While the army reported dozens of lots containing
Union dead in the 1870s, the National Cemetery Administration
maintains only fifteen. The number of graves ranges from less
than ten to nearly 400 in these lots.

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs

National Cemetery Administration

Battle of Baxter Springs

On October 6, 1863, Confederate guerrilla William Clarke
Quantrill planned a two-pronged attack on Fort Blair, a
Union garrison near Baxter Springs, Kansas. One group of
about 450 Confederates attacked from the east. The assault
surprised the small Union post. Many soldiers were outside
the fort at the time, but Lt. James B. Pond was able to rally
his men and defend the fort.

A second group, led by Quantrill, got lost on the way to the
fort. However, they encountered a detachment of Union
soldiers escorting Gen. James G. Blunt, the U.S. district
commander. The latter saw Quantrill’s men but, because
most wore captured Union uniforms, their allegiance was
unclear. The guerrillas charged and, after a brief exchange
of gunfire, broke the Union line. Blunt lost more than
eighty men, many executed after they had surrendered.
Nearly 100 Union soldiers were killed in action that day.

Seven weeks before they attacked Fort Blair, William Clarke Quantrill and his men raided
Lawrence, Kansas. They killed 150 civilians and burned the town. Harper’s Weekly
Magazine (September 5, 1863).
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Soldiers’ lot plan, 1900. National Cemetery
Administration. Undated photograph of the
monument funded by the federal government.
National Archives and Records Administration.

Soldiers’ Lot

The Union dead were buried in Baxter Springs’ city cemetery.
The U.S. government had planned to remove these remains to
the new national cemetery in Springfield, Missouri. However,
residents petitioned to retain and care for the graves. Between
1869 and 1887, the City of Baxter Springs incrementally
donated the 0.7-acre soldiers’ lot to the United States. In 1873,
the mayor requested artillery pieces to be installed here as
ornamental features. The U.S. Army Ordnance Department
supplied the four 32-pounder cannon tubes that still flank the
central monument.

The 27-foot-tall granite monument honoring the soldiers killed
in the 1863 Battle of Baxter Springs was dedicated on Decoration
(Memorial) Day 1886. Congress allotted $4,000 to build it. The
figure of a Union soldier at parade rest stands on a pedestal
inscribed with 163 names of soldiers and civilians buried here.

To learn more about benefits and programs
for Veterans and families, visit www.va.gov
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BEAUFORT NATIONAL CEMETERY

Civil War Beaufort

Soon after the Civil War began in April 1861,
Confederate troops fortified the city of Beaufort. Fort
Walker on Hilton Head Island and Fort Beauregard
on St. Phillips Island protected the approach to Port
Royal Bay.

On the morning of November 7, 1861, a Union
fleet of seventeen gunboats pounded the forts with
artillery fire. By late afternoon, the Confederates

had abandoned both islands.
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Union Hospital No. 7 at Beaufort, c. 1865. Library of Congress.

The Union Navy gained control of one of the best
harbors on the Atlantic coast. Its blockading fleet
could resupply and repair in protected waters.
Beaufort, upriver from the islands, was transformed
into a naval station, hospital center, and Union
Army headquarters.

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs

National Cemetery Administration
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Cemetery entrance, 1904, showing the first permanent superintendent lodge, 1881 (right), which replaced the
temporary wood lodge, c. 1867 (left). The older building was built across the street from the cemetery (foreground), and
later moved inside the cemetery to be used as an outbuilding. National Archives and Records Administration.

National Cemetery

Beaufort National Cemetery was established in 1863. The U.S. Army
Quartermaster General’s Office laid out the 22 acres in sections that radiate
outward from a central plaza to form a half circle. Of the 9,226 interments
here in 1874, about half were known. Many of the unknown dead were Union
prisoners of war originally buried at Camp Lawton in Georgia.

New construction in the 1870s included a Second Empire-style lodge for the
superintendent and a brick wall to enclose the cemetery. The existing Dutch
Colonial Revival-style lodge was built in 1934. Although it has grown in size,
the cemetery retains many of its original design features.

There are two Civil War monuments. The Union Soldiers Monument, a
20-foot-tall granite obelisk, was erected through the efforts of Mrs. Eliza
McGuffin Potter in 1870. The second, a marble tablet on a raised brick
base, lists the names of 175 soldiers who Mrs. Potter attended as a nurse in
Beaufort hospitals.

U.S. Colored Troops

Beginning in March 1863, the federal government
began recruiting black men for the Union Army. A
few months later, the War Department created the
Bureau of United States Colored Troops (USCT).
USCT regiments fought in battles and engagements
from Virginia to Texas. There are more than 1,700
USCT soldiers buried here.

In the late 1980s, the remains of nineteen soldiers,
determined by archaeologists to be members of the
all-black 55th Massachusetts Infantry Regiment,
were discovered on Folly Island near Charleston.
In 1989, the remains were reinterred with full
military honors between Section 56 and the back
wall of the cemetery.

USCT reenactor pauses at coffins that contain the remains of black soldiers
discovered on Folly Island, South Carolina, prior to reburial on Memorial Day
1989. National Cemetery Administration.

To learn more about benefits and programs
for Veterans and families, visit www.va.gov
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BEVERLY NATIONAL CEMETERY

Beverly Hospital

'Two years into the Civil War, Philadelphia hospitals
were filled with sick and wounded soldiers. To relieve
the overcrowding, in 1864 the federal government
established a military hospital in nearby Beverly. The
New Jersey facility served soldiers requiring hospital
care, and those recovering but not yet fit for active duty.

The ailing arrived from Philadelphia aboard the steamer
John A. Warner. According to local lore, the citizens of
Beverly met the boat at the wharf and helped transport

Soldiers’ Monument

On June 25, 1875, a roaring artillery salute ended a ceremony
to dedicate an imposing marble monument at the cemetery.
National Guard units, local dignitaries, and the New Jersey
governor participated. The state appropriated $10,000 to build
the monument. Nearly 60 feet tall, topped with a standing
soldier, it was inscribed: “Erected by the State of New Jersey
in Memory of her Patriot Dead.” The monument remained in
place for more than seventy years. It was taken down in the
1950s after it became unstable. The figure and part of the base
now stand in front of the American Legion Post 115 building a

few blocks north of the cemetery.

soldiers to the hospital. Church bells tolled in welcome,
and women served food and coffee.

The hospital accommodated

up to 2,500 patients at a time.
= It closed in 1865. Monument on a mound. National Archives and Records Administration.

National Cemetery

In August 1864, a private citizen donated to the federal
government land that became Beverly National Cemetery.

Pvt. William Haskell, Company K, 24th Massachusetts Infantry,
was the first burial on August 29, 1864. By the end of the war
147 soldiers lay here, seven unknown.

One Civil War recipient of the Medal of Honor is buried in the
cemetery: First Sgt. Bernard A. Strausbaugh (Strasbaugh), 3rd
Maryland Infantry. First bestowed in 1863, it is the highest award
for military valor in the U.S. Armed Services. For acts above and
beyond the call of duty, 1,522 individuals who served in the Civil
War received the medal.

On June 17, 1864, Strausbaugh was injured recapturing the
2nd Pennsylvania Provisional Artillery colors at Petersburg, s N sy St Tlomsmtost . S50

Virginia. He died in a Beverly hospital on November 5, 1864 National Archives and Records Administration.

‘ Right, the monument as it appeared in 2014. it i
( Section 1 ) Grave 102 ) ¥ Courtesy of Bill Brookouver. N~
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CAMP BUTLER NATIONAL CEMETERY
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Camp Butler in 1862. National Archives and Records Administration.

Union Training Camp

The State of Illinois established Camp Butler in August 1861
in response to President Abraham Lincoln’s second call for
volunteers to suppress the rebellion. Named for William
Butler, the state treasurer, its location on Clear Lake was
unfortunate. By October measles and typhoid swept the camp.
Men who died were buried near the infantry encampment.

In December 1861, the military relocated to higher ground
six miles southwest of Springfield. The new locale was served
by reliable road and rail connections. Union troops departed
Camp Butler in early February 1862. Until fall 1863, the facility
served as a prison camp for Confederates.

After the last prisoners left, Camp Butler resumed its role
as a Union training camp. Over the course of the Civil War,
more than 200,000 Union soldiers passed through it. The
camp formally closed on June 19, 1866.

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs

National Cemetery Administration

National Cemetery

The original 6.5-acre cemetery was created in 1862. More than
700 Union soldiers who died in Camp Butler Hospital were
buried here, along with a similar number of Confederate
prisoners. Unlike most national cemeteries established after
the Civil War, the first interments were not arranged in regular
rows. Rather, graves were “dug as most convenient.”

For nearly a decade, a picket fence separated Union graves in

the “cemetery proper” from Confederate graves. By the 1870s,
a brick wall enclosed the entire property. All graves were
marked temporarily with wooden headboards. Permanent
headstones for Union graves were installed after 1873 and for
Confederate graves in 1908.

The graves of unknown soldiers originally featured small,
square marble markers. In 1938, the army replaced these with
upright headstones to create a uniform appearance.
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Pre-1908 view of cemetery showing the original superintendent’s lodge, flagpole mound, and
unknown graves with square markers. National Archives and Records Administration.

Ceremonial area with flagpole and cannon monuments, 1933. The original octagonal rostrum, left,
was replaced in 1939. National Archives and Records Administration.

Superintendents

An 1867 law directed the secretary of war to appoint a
“meritorious and trustworthy” superintendent to manage each
national cemetery. To qualify for the position, an individual
must have been an army enlisted man disabled in service. A
later change to the law allowed any honorably mustered-out or
discharged commissioned officer or enlisted man to serve.

James McCaulley, who lost an arm while serving in the
25th Indiana Infantry, was the first superintendent here.
He saw the first permanent lodge constructed and flagstaff
installed. Stone gateposts flanking the entrance supported
an iron archway that read “National Cemetery.”

From 1906 to 1930, Spanish-American War veteran George
W. Ford, an African American, served as superintendent. He
oversaw construction of the current lodge. Ford died in 1939
and is buried in Section 3, Grave 869.

To learn more about benefits and programs
for Veterans and families, visit www.va.gov
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CONFEDERATE

BURIALS IN THE NATIONAL CEMETERY

Camp Butler Prison Camp

On February 16, 1862, Fort Donelson, a Confederate
stronghold on the Cumberland River west of Clarksville,
Tennessee, surrendered. Faced with 15,000 prisoners, the
U.S. Army converted several training camps, including Camp
Butler, into military prisons; it received 2,000 prisoners.

An additional 1,000 prisoners arrived in April 1862, after
the capture of Island No. 10 in the Mississippi River, near
New Madrid, Missouri. Beginning in September, prisoners
were sent south for exchange for Union prisoners; the camp
was empty by October. In early 1863, an estimated 1,665
Confederate soldiers captured in Arkansas and Tennessee,
arrived at Camp Butler.

Barracks were often full, forcing prisoners to live in tents.
Illness reached epidemic proportions—pneumonia was a
constant problem. When the last Confederate prisoners
departed on May 19, 1863, more than 800 of their comrades
had been buried in the prison cemetery, victims of inadequate

facilities, poor sanitation, and disease.
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U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs

National Cemetery Administration

The Confederate section in 1939. National Archives and Records Administration.

Prison Dead

Prisoners who died at Camp Butler were interred in an old
cornfield northeast of the camp, near the graves of Union
soldiers.

Like Union dead, prisoners were buried in individual coffins
and placed in graves marked with headboards or stakes. All
Confederate prisoners buried at Camp Butler are in their
original graves.

The post burial ground at Camp Butler became a national
cemetery in 1862. An 1868 U.S. Army inspection report
explained the layout: “The burials were made from the
hospitals at Camp Butler as the deaths occurred, and do not
seem to have been made according to any regular plan or
order; but the graves were dug as most convenient.”

In 1908, the Commission for Marking Graves of Confederate
Dead erected the pointed-top marble headstones that still
mark the graves.

Toward Reconciliation

On May 30, 1868, the Grand Army of the Republic decorated
Union and Confederate graves at Arlington National Cemetery.
Thirty years later President William McKinley proclaimed:

The Union is once more the common altar of our love and
loyalty, our devotion and sacrifice . . . Every soldier’s grave
made during our unfortunate Civil War is a tribute to American
valor . . . in the spirit of fraternity we should share with you in
the care of the graves of the Confederate soldiers.

The War Department created the Confederate section

at Arlington in 1901, and marked the graves with
distinctive pointed-top marble headstones. Five years
later, Congress created the Commission for Marking
Graves of Confederate Dead to identify and mark the
graves of Confederates who died in Northern prisons.
Its mission was later expanded to encompass all national
cemeteries that contained Confederate burials.

Four former Confederate officers headed the

Commission over its lifetime. By 1916, it had marked
in excess of 25,500 graves and erected monuments in |
locations where individual graves could not be identified. |

In 1930, the War Department authorized the addition
of the Southern Cross of Honor to the Confederate
headstone.

North Alton Confedemte Cemetery
8 Monument, 1909, Alton, II.

Original Commission headstone (left) and

To learn more about benefits and programs
for Veterans and families, visit www.va.gov

\ headstone with Southern Cross of Honor (right).
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CAMP CHASE CONFEDERATE CEMETERY

The Prison Cemetery Toward Reconciliation

By the time Camp Chase closed in 1865, more than 2,000 On May 30, 1868, the Grand Army of the Republic decorated
Confederate soldiers were buried here in graves marked Union and Confederate graves at Arlington National Cemetery.
with wooden headboards. After the war, famlly and friends ThlI’ty years later President William McKinley proclaimed:
removed 126 bod?es. .Later, the r ema.ins of ninety-nine The Union is once more the common altar of our love and
Confederates buried in Columbus City Cemetery and at Camp loyalty, our devotion and sacrifice . . . Every soldier’s grave
Dennison, near Cincinnati, were reinterred here. In 1879, the made during our unfortunate Civil War is a tribute to American
U.S. government bought the property. valor . . . in the spirit of fraternity we should share with you in

the care of the graves of the Confederate soldiers.

Privately funded improvements and annual memorial

observances began in 1893 under the direction of William The War Department created the Confederate section
9 =10 at Arlington in 1901, and marked the graves with
Eﬁ?i? .;fé distinctive pointed-top marble headstones. Five years

Knauss, a former

Camp Chase, c. 1864. Ohio Historical Society.

Union soldier. Knauss

. : : - 5- ) . :\' ' . later, Congress created the Commission for Markin
Camp Chase Prison :llfiizﬁgl};fifg& N YA ¥ Graves of %Zonfederate Dead to identify and mark tl;ge
When President Abraham Lincoln called for volunteers to maintain the cemetery. graves of Confederates who died in Northern prisons.
suppress the Southern rebellion in April 1861, thousands of e silas Snarmilled] The Its mission was later expanded to encompass all national
men rushed to Camp Jackson in Columbus, Ohio. Authorities memorial boulder. cemeteries that contained Confederate burials.
established Camp Chase after volunteers overwhelmed Camp

Four former Confederate officers headed the
Commission over its lifetime. By 1916, it had marked

Jackson, which had been hastily set up in a city park. Camp Knauss formed the

Chase remained a Union training camp throughout the war Camp Chase Memorial in excess of 25,500 graves and erected monuments in
PR A 1ation lici : T 1 | g
but assumed another function in June 1861, when the first ssociation fo Soficit locations where individual graves could not be identified. &
prisoner arrived. By November, Camp Chase held nearly 300 funds to decorate the | - ’ ‘
prisoners, many of them Northern civilians charged with Confederate graves i (A0, e e Dy e iEienit eniflie el E0E e el uion
aiding the Confederacy and erect a formal of the Southern Cross of Honor to the Confederate
monument. The headstone. i TR

On February 16, 1862, Fort Donelson, a Confederate

existing granite ar ch The monument, c. 1940. Urns on either side of the soldier
stronghold on the Cumberland River west of Clarksville,

. . were replaced later. National Archives and Records
tOpp ed by a zinc soldier Administration.

Tennessee, surrendered. Faced with housing 15,000 prisoners, was erected in 1902.

the federal government turned several training camps,

including Camp Chase, into prison camps. When prisoner In 1908, after determining that individual graves could
exchanges ceased in summer 1863, the Camp Chase population be identified, the Commission for Marking Graves of
exploded to more than 2,000 men. Camp Chase operated Confederate Dead installed headstones. The Commission also North Alton Confederate Cemetery
for the duration of the war, but by July 1865 all remaining erected metal fencing atop the stone wall and the decorative § Monument, 1909, Alton, Ill.
: " Original Commission headstone (left) and
prisoners had been released. entrance gate to better secure the cemetery. "\ headstone with Southern Cross of Honor (right).

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs To learn more about benefits and programs
for Veterans and families, visit www.va.gov

National Cemetery Administration
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CAMP NELSON NATIONAL CEMETERY
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U.S. Colored Troops barracks at Camp Nelson, c. 1865. National Archives and Records
Administration.

Camp Nelson

Gen. Ambrose Burnside, commander of the U.S. Army
Department of the Ohio, established Camp Nelson in
June 1863. It occupied a ridge above the Kentucky River
about 20 miles south of Lexington. The Union depot
provisioned the army’s invasion of East Tennessee,
then the Western Theater. Camp Nelson provided
mules, horses, and other quartermaster and commissary
supplies. Nelson General Hospital and a Soldiers’ Home
administered by the U.S. Sanitary Commission were
established here.

Camp Nelson became an important recruiting and
training camp for U.S. Colored Troops (USCT). Many
enslaved men who came to enlist brought their families.
The army responded by building a large refugee camp
to shelter them. More than 10,000 USCT passed through
Camp Nelson, the third-largest USCT recruiting center
established during the Civil War.

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs

National Cemetery Administration

“Harvest of Death”

Early in 1866, Capt. E. B. Whitman began gathering information
in preparation for the reinterment of Union soldiers buried in
the Military Division of Tennessee. This huge district included
Alabama, Georgia, Kentucky, Mississippi, and Tennessee.

Captain Whitman, later lieutenant colonel, placed newspaper
notices seeking locations of Union graves. Citizens, chaplains,
soldiers, and officers replied. Whitman made three major
expeditions across the region, stopping at hundreds of battlefields
and engagement sites. Because of his work, thousands of Union
dead were moved to twelve new national cemeteries.

In May 1869, Whitman submitted a detailed summary of this
difficult project to the quartermaster general. The report
contained sketches and site plans of each cemetery, and data
on interments and service affiliations.
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Camp Nelson National Cemetery, from Bruvt. Lt. Col. E. B. Whitman’s final report, c. 1869. Whitman
used the phrase “Harvest of Death” in his exhaustive report to describe the work of collecting the dead.
National Archives and Records Administration.

National Cemetery

Prior to 1869, ten federally established or public cemeteries in
Kentucky contained the remains of Union soldiers. The work of
reinterring the dead was almost complete when the army changed
its plan and reduced the number of cemeteries in the state to six.

Cemetery gate, 1904. The cast-iron plaques contain information about the establishment of the
national cemeteries (left) and the rules of behavior for visitors (right). National Archives and
Records Administration.

Camp Nelson National Cemetery, the largest, had been
established to bury soldiers who died in camp. In 1867, the
U.S. Army Quartermaster General’s Office moved remains
here from Covington, Frankfort, London, Perryville, and
Richmond, Kentucky. As a result, the cemetery more than
doubled to 6.5 acres.

'Two years later, it contained 3,638 Union graves, including

867 USCT. Fewer than one-third of the dead were unknown. By

1874, the government had purchased another 3 acres and built a
Second Empire-style lodge for the superintendent and his family.

By law, the secretary of war appointed a “meritorious and
trustworthy” superintendent to manage the cemetery.
Ewald Schneider, who served in the 5th U.S. Artillery, was
the first superintendent here. He lost a leg at the Battle of
Chickamauga (Georgia) on September 19, 1863.

To learn more about benefits and programs
for Veterans and families, visit www.va.gov
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CAVE HILL NATIONAL CEMETERY
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In September 1862, Union Maj. Gen. William “Bull” Nelson ordered women and children out
of Louisville. Frank Leslie’s Illustrated Newspaper (October 18, 1862).

Civil War Louisville

When the Civil War began, Louisville was the largest city in
Kentucky and the twelfth largest in the nation. Because its
commercial and industrial economy was not dependent on
slave labor, less than 10 percent of the city’s population was
enslaved. A major transportation hub, Louisville railroads
connected it to other Kentucky cities, as well as Cincinnati,
Ohio, to the east and Nashville, Tennessee, to the south. The
Ohio River provided another transportation route. More
than 100,000 Union soldiers passed through the city either
by railroad or river.

By 1862, Louisville was vital to the Union war effort. The
Louisville & Nashville (L&N) Railroad carried supplies from
northern states to Union troops in Tennessee and beyond.
After the October 1862 Battle of Perryville, several hundred
Confederate prisoners were confined in the city. Wounded
Union soldiers were treated in Louisville’s nineteen military
hospitals. Many soldiers who died of wounds or sickness
were buried here.

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs

National Cemetery Administration

“Harvest of Death”

Early in 1866, Capt. E. B. Whitman began gathering
information in preparation for the reinterment of Union
soldiers buried in the Military Division of Tennessee.
This huge district included Alabama, Georgia, Kentucky,
Mississippi, and Tennessee.

Captain Whitman, later lieutenant colonel, placed
newspaper notices seeking locations of Union graves.
Citizens, chaplains, soldiers, and officers replied. Whitman
made three major expeditions across the region, stopping
at hundreds of battlefields and engagement sites. Because
of his work, thousands of Union dead were moved to
twelve new national cemeteries.

In May 1869, Whitman submitted a detailed summary of
this difficult project to the quartermaster general. The
report contained sketches and site plans of each cemetery,
and data on interments and service affiliations.

U.S.SOLDIERS LOT
CAVE HILL
CEMETERY

9 TFM

Drawing of Soldiers’ Lot, later designated a national cemetery, at Cave Hill Cemetery, c. 1866.
National Archives and Records Administration.
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Superintendent’s lodge, 1882. The Second Empire-style building, constructed in 1877 outside the
cemetery wall, was sold in 1938. National Archives and Records Administration.
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National Cemetery

Prior to 1869, ten federally established or public cemeteries in
Kentucky contained the remains of Union soldiers. The work of
reinterring the dead was almost complete when the army changed
its plan and reduced the number of cemeteries in the state to six.

The private Cave Hill Cemetery, established 1848, had donated a
half acre to the government for the burial of Union dead in 1861.
Federal acquisitions between 1863 and 1868 brought the size

of the lot to 2.9 acres. By 1869, the national cemetery contained
3,910 interments. Only 563 were unknown. The remains came
from several Kentucky locales including Henderson, Owensboro,
and battlefields and sites along the L&N Railroad between here
and Woodsonville, Hart County.

One of the nation’s oldest Civil War monuments, honoring
soldiers of the 32nd Indiana Infantry, was moved here in 1867.
The Union Soldiers and Sailors Monument Association dedicated

a memorial to the unknown dead buried in the national cemetery
on July 25, 1914.

To learn more about benefits and programs
for Veterans and families, visit www.va.gov
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CHATTANOOGA NATIONAL CEMETERY
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Gen. George H. Thomas established a In 1867, this was designated Chattanooga } |
cemetery here on December 25, 1863, National Cemetery. The 1874 army E ;
“to provide a proper resting place for inspection reported 12,928 interments |
the remains of the brave men who fell here, 4,860 unknown. : .
upon the fields” of Chattanooga. .

There are two Civil War monuments.
The grounds, some 120 acres southwest Members of the 4th Army Corps erected
of the city, were huge in comparison to a granite obelisk (between Sections C
other early military cemeteries. A stone and F) in 1868 to honor fallen comrades. L
wall enclosed 75 acres, where four miles | N

In 1880, a 32-foot-tall Neoclassical &

of roadway meandered through eighteen

archway was erected at the original
cemetery entrance. It is one of five
monumental arches the army built in
southern national cemeteries.
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picturesque burial sections. A central
hill was reserved for the flagstaff and
cannon monuments. The natural
R e T s terrain influenced the landscape design,

The Battle of Chattanooga, L. Prang & Co., 1880. Library of Congress. r esulting In irr egular -shaped sections
that still define the cemetery.
Watercolor depiction of Section E, c. 1870s.

C iVil War C h attan O Oga National Archives and Records Administration.

Following a defeat at Chickamauga, Georgia,

in September 1863, the Union Army retreated
to Chattanooga, Tennessee. Confederate forces
laid siege to the city, and for a month both sides
tried to gain the advantage. Union Gen. Ulysses
S. Grant secured a supply line into the city and
in mid-November devised a plan to break the
Confederate line on nearby Missionary Ridge.
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Andrews Raid

On April 12, 1862, Kentucky civilian James J. Andrews led a daring
raid. Andrews, another civilian, and twenty Union soldiers from the
2nd, 21st, and 33rd Ohio infantries made their way to Big Shanty
(Kennesaw), Georgia, and stole the locomotive General. As the
raiders steamed north toward Chattanooga, they burned railroad
bridges, cut telegraph lines, and tore up track.

In a series of engagements that began November 23,
1863, Grant’s troops were victorious. Two days
later they attacked Missionary Ridge. The assault

Relentless pursuit, bad weather, and poor luck ended their mission.
e | Confederate forces eventually captured all the men. After being
T D = tried, Andrews and seven others were hanged as spies. Some raiders

; B R U L8 e G AR % : :
Succeeded Once Unlon trOOpS Were able to Scale . .D. A. Dr J RPorlcr Jacl Parrot W. . ihl "m. aningrntfiu. \.Vison .W". W. Brown {' escaped. Others Were eXChanged for Confederate prlsoners' Nlneteen
the I’ldge and pleI‘CG the Confederate llne. The T_lf_.‘.';}iwitrors of Andrew’s Raiders, Aﬁndrew's R.:«.:_i-de_rs h_/rlo_numenll\_lilgf)ial (ﬁ]cfer)z_Cof)rlghtcd_Junel I9PF8_L~ F:gi:lﬂj SOlleI‘S I‘€C€1V€d the Medal Of Honor. Andrews and the Other C1V11121I1
Confederates retreated down the east side of the Andrews and eight raiders are buried in Section H. In 1890, the State of Ohio erected a . :
. : monument here that features a bronze replica of the General locomotive. This postcard were not ehglble for the commendation.
rldge, endmg the battle on November 25. shows surviving raiders at the monument in 1908. National Cemetery Administration.

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs To learn more about benefits and programs

National Cemetery Administration for Veterans and families, visit www.va.gov
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CITY POINT NATIONAL CEMETERY

“The busiest place in Dixie”

City Point, Virginia, played a significant role in the final year
of the Civil War. General-in-Chief of the Union Army Ulysses
S. Grant established his headquarters here on June 15, 1864.
Union ships sailed supplies up the James River to this hamlet
north of Petersburg.

The massive supply depot included more than 280 buildings
that housed facilities and services essential to keeping the
Union Army combat ready. Deliveries flowed in to support the
100,000 men and 65,000 animals Grant employed in the siege
of Petersburg. The Quartermaster Corps built eight wharves,
which covered 8 acres and included 100,000 square feet of
warehouse space. The magnitude of river traffic at City Point
made it, briefly, one of the busiest ports in the world.

The Union Army also established hospital facilities at City
Point in 1864. At first the wounded were housed in 1,200
tents. Later the army constructed ninety frame buildings
capable of holding 5,400 men. The hospital complex included
a water tower, ice house, dining hall and kitchens. By 1865, the
complex had treated 29,000 patients.

Thousands of men, many former slaves, unload supplies on the wharf at City Point, c. 1864.
Library of Congress.

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs

National Cemetery Administration

National Cemetery

During the Civil War, Union and Confederate armies fought
numerous battles for control of Richmond. Thousands

of Union soldiers perished. They are now buried in City

Point National Cemetery and six other national cemeteries
established in the Richmond-Petersburg area in 1866. Most of
the 6,909 burials were moved here from hospital cemeteries,
including the old City Point burial ground, Point of Rocks
Cemetery in Chesterfield County, and Harrison’s Landing in
Charles City County.

Rear of the original lodge at City Point sometime before it was razed in 1928. National Archives
and Records Administration.

Unlike most Richmond-area national cemeteries where greater
numbers of unknown dead are interred, only 1,400 unknowns
are here. More than 1,100 Confederate soldiers, who died in
nearby hospitals after the Union occupation, lie here, most in
Section C.

In the 1950s, several more Civil War soldiers were laid to rest
in the cemetery. Work undertaken in a vacant lot in Hopewell,
Virginia, in 1955, uncovered the graves of seventeen Union
and Confederate soldiers. Four years later, construction crews
working on Interstate 95 unearthed the remains of two
Union soldiers.

Army of the James

Beginning in March 1863, the federal government began
actively recruiting black men for the U.S. Army. In May of the
following year, the War Department created the Bureau of
United States Colored Troops (USCT). These regiments fought
in battles and engagements from Virginia to Texas. Originally,
USCT regiments were assigned to both the X and XVIII Corps
of the Army of the James, but were consolidated into the XXV

Corps in December 1864. More than 1,300 USCT soldiers,
both known and unknown, were buried here.

In 1865, a 20-foot-tall marble obelisk was erected at the
cemetery under the direction of Maj. Gen. Benjamin Butler
and others. It honors the dead who served in the Army of
the James. The badges of the XVIII Corps (trefoil cross),

X Corps (four-bastioned fort), and XXIV Corps (heart)
decorate the monument.

s ) -

James under Maj. Gen. Benjamin Butler. Library of Congress.

To learn more about benefits and programs
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COLD HARBOR NATIONAL CEMETERY

“Grant’s slaughter pen” Monuments

Confederate Gen. Robert E. Lee’s army stood between Union The first monument, a white marble sarcophagus,
Gen. Ulysses S. Grant and Richmond, the Confederate was erected in 1877 to mark trench burials containing
capital. Grant ordered his cavalry to take and hold the vital the unknown dead. The citizens of New York and
crossroads known as Cold Harbor. On May 31, 1864, they Pennsylvania erected monuments in 1909. The
succeeded, and that night both sides built fortifications. first is inscribed with the names of 219 men of the
The next day, six Union divisions attacked. One New York 8th New York Heavy Artillery who died fighting
soldier called it hell “turned up sideways.” The Union lost at Cold Harbor. The second, a 30-foot-tall granite
2,200 men, took 750 prisoners, and gained nothing. shaft topped by a standing soldier, honors the

sacrifice made nearby by Pennsylvania troops.

Depiction of the cemetery with headboards. Harper’s Weekly, October 1866.

National Cemetery

During the Civil War, thousands of Union soldiers perished in battles
fought for control of Richmond. They are now buried in Cold Harbor
National Cemetery and six other national cemeteries established in the
Richmond-Petersburg area in 1866. Here lie soldiers who died at the
battles of Mechanicsville, Savage Station, and many other nearby sites.

A Union battery at the Battle of Cold Harbor, June 1864, Library of Congress. The 1 4-acre Cemetery i divided into quadrants o ﬂagstaff

mound at the center. It was enclosed by a brick wall in 1871. A Second
Empire-style lodge built in the 1870s stands at the entrance. The
remains of 889 unknown Union soldiers are interred in two trenches

Grant planned another assault for the next morning, but
everything went wrong. Union soldiers, maneuvering in
the dark, did not reach their positions until dawn, and he

postponed the attack one day to June 3. The delay allowed alongticnorthiwall

Lee to strengthen the Confederate line. Before sunrise, 50,000 Medal of Honor recipient Augustus Barry, a sergeant-major with the
Union infantry charged. An hour later 7,000 Union soldiers 16th U.S. Infantry, was wounded in 1864 at the Battle of Kennesaw
lay dead or wounded. Grant later wrote, “I have always Mountain, Georgia. Berry’s commendation was for “conspicuous
regretted that the last assault at Cold Harbor was ever made.” gallantry and intrepidity at the risk of his life above and beyond the
The Union offensive on Richmond ended at Cold Harbor and call of duty.” In 1867, he was appointed the cemetery superintendent; o | -
- . . . Dedication of the Pennsylvania Monument, attended by surviving veterans and
Grant moved on to Petersburg, Virginia. four years later he was buried in Section A, Grave 309. others, 1909. National Cemetery Administration.

National Cemetery Administration for Veterans and families, visit www.va.gov
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CONFEDERATE MOUND

Camp Douglas Prison

Camp Douglas was established as a Union training camp

on the south side of Chicago. When Fort Donelson, a
Confederate stronghold on the Cumberland River west of
Clarksville, Tennessee, surrendered in February 1862, the
federal government hastily converted Camp Douglas and
other training camps into military prisons. More than 26,000

Confederate prisoners passed through Camp Douglas; more
than 4,000 died there.

Men who died at Camp Douglas were buried at City Cemetery,
now Lincoln Park, and at a smallpox cemetery. In late 1865,
when local ordinances forced the U.S. Army to move the
remains of an estimated 5,000 Confederate prisoners buried

in the city, the federal government purchased this 5-acre lot in
Oak Woods Cemetery. The remains of 655 Confederates and
at least twelve Union guards from the smallpox cemetery were
reinterred in Oak Woods. Two years later, the army moved an
additional 3,384 bodies here from the City Cemetery. This lot
became known as Confederate Mound.

- . ; Wy
YR IL WEEL g -

. T -
Sy NE el

%

My

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs

National Cemetery Administration

The unveiling of the monument in 1895. Library of Congress.

The 1895 Monument

In 1887, the War Department approved an Ex-Confederate
Association of Chicago proposal to place a memorial at
Confederate Mound. John C. Underwood, a former
Confederate officer, designed the memorial and raised funds
to erect it. The army supplied four artillery pieces and
enough projectiles to create six pyramidal stacks around the
monument. The May 30 dedication in 1895 was a lavish
spectacle witnessed by an estimated 100,000 people.

In 1911, the Commission for Marking Graves of Confederate
Dead hired Van Amringe Granite Company of Boston,
Massachusetts, to raise the nearly 40 foot monument and
place it on a new base surrounded by a low mound. The
mound features sixteen bronze plaques containing the names
of 4,275 Confederate soldiers that the Commission was able
to document as having perished at Camp Douglas.

Toward Reconciliation

On May 30, 1868, the Grand Army of the Republic decorated
Union and Confederate graves at Arlington National Cemetery.
Thirty years later President William McKinley proclaimed:

The Union is once more the common altar of our love and
loyalty, our devotion and sacrifice . . . Every soldier’s grave
made during our unfortunate Civil War is a tribute to American
valor . . . in the spirit of fraternity we should share with you in
the care of the graves of the Confederate soldiers.

The War Department created the Confederate section

at Arlington in 1901, and marked the graves with
distinctive pointed-top marble headstones. Five years
later, Congress created the Commission for Marking
Graves of Confederate Dead to identify and mark the
graves of Confederates who died in Northern prisons.
Its mission was later expanded to encompass all national
cemeteries that contained Confederate burials.

Four former Confederate officers headed the

Commission over its lifetime. By 1916, it had marked
in excess of 25,500 graves and erected monuments in Bl
locations where individual graves could not be identified. & = T

In 1930, the War Department authorized the addition
of the Southern Cross of Honor to the Confederate
headstone.

North Alton Confederate Cemetery
N Monument, 1909, Alton, II.

Original Commission headstone (left) and
& headstone with Southern Cross of Honor (right).

To learn more about benefits and programs
for Veterans and families, visit www.va.gov
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CONFEDERATE STOCKADE CEMETERY

Confederate Prison

On November 15, 1861, the War Department leased one

half of Johnson’s Island, in Sandusky Bay, Ohio, and began
constructing a 15-acre prison camp on the southeast shore.
When complete, the prison complex included a 14-foot-tall
board stockade that enclosed thirteen barracks, one of which
served as a hospital. Each barracks had two external kitchens.
Forty structures outside the complex housed prison staff. A
redoubt with artillery looked down on the prison to guard
against insurrection.

b
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The redoubt at Johnson’s Island, c. 1863. Miller’s Photographic History of the Civil War.

In June 1862, Secretary of War Edwin M. Stanton ordered
that all Confederate officers held at Camp Chase prison in
Columbus, Ohio, be moved to Johnson’s Island. It became the
official prison for Confederate officers; however, non-officers
were held there, and officers were interned elsewhere.

Over the course of the war, about 12,000 prisoners were
confined on Johnson’s Island. Compared to other Civil War
prison facilities, a remarkably low number—239—died,
despite the harsh climate and remote location. The first
recorded death was David T. J. Wood on May 6, 1862; William
Michael, who died in June 1865, the month the prison closed,
was the last.

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs

National Cemetery Administration

Confederate Stockade Cemetery, c. 1901. Sandusky Library Archives Research Center.

The Cemetery

Prisoners who died at Johnson’s Island were buried in a
cemetery about a half mile from the prison. The soft, loamy
island soil made digging easy, but 4-5 feet below ground was
solid bedrock, which prevented burials at customary levels of
6 feet. Each grave was marked with a wooden headboard.

After the war, friends or relatives removed more than twenty
bodies. Marble headstones—206 total—were erected in 1890
through the efforts of a group of Georgia journalists who
visited the cemetery and reported in state newspapers the lack
of permanent markers. Many of these headstones remain in

place today.
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The cemetery after the headstones were placed, pre-1910. Sandusky Library Archives Research
Center.

Mary Patton Hudson

In 1905, the Robert Patton Chapter, United Daughters of the
Confederacy (UDC), bought the cemetery and adjacent lot from
private owners. This purchase linked the cemetery and Mary
Patton Hudson, the chapter’s leader, for more than twenty years.
Mrs. Hudson, known for her determination, worked diligently
on behalf of the cemetery. After the Commission for Marking
Graves of Confederate Dead was authorized in 1906, Mrs.
Hudson immediately began lobbying for cemetery improvements
including a new fence. Commissioner William Elliott declined to
pay to enclose a cemetery the federal government did not own.
Mrs. Hudson refused to relinquish the property.

To honor the soldiers buried on Johnson’s Island, Mrs. Hudson
raised the money to erect a large monument in 1910—a bronze
statue of a Confederate soldier sculpted by Moses Ezekiel. Her
crusade to improve and beautify the cemetery continued until
her death in 1920. In 1931, the UDC donated the cemetery to

the U.S. government.

e . Bh \ mi?ki

Unveiling “The Lookout” statue in 1910.
Sandusky Library Archives Research Center.

Mary Patton Hudson, c. 1905. Mrs. Hudson sent this photograph to
Commissioner Elliott, “So he would know who he was talking to.”
National Archives and Records Administration.

To learn more about benefits and programs
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CONGRESSIONAL CEMETERY GOVERNMENT LOTS

Civil War Washington City

Over the course of the Civil War, the nation’s capital was
transformed. The dignified government city Pierre Charles
[’Enfant laid out in 1791 was hardened into a sprawling
military center. Encircled by strong defenses, the District of
Columbia was among the most-heavily fortified cities in the

world from 1861-1865.

As fighting continued and Union casualties rose, the U.S.
Army created a medical center to care for injured soldiers
flooding the city. A lone hospital served the city in April 1861.
Five years later, there were 100 or more. The two largest
hospitals—Freedman and Lincoln—each housed in excess of
2,000 patients. Armory Square, Carver, Emory, and Mount
Pleasant hospitals each contained 1,000 or more beds.

Washington City’s population skyrocketed when 30,000
fugitive slaves arrived in search of freedom and opportunity.
When the Compensated Emancipation Act became law

on April 16, 1862, it became the first emancipated city in
America. Thousands of freedmen enlisted here and served in
the U.S. Colored Troops.

4\ ip;ky
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ital, Washington, D.C., c. 1863. Library of Congress.

A ward in Armory Square Hosp

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs

National Cemetery Administration

Watercolor of Congressional Cemetery by Benjamin Latrobe, c. 1812. Considered America’s first
architect, Latrobe is credited with the cenotaph design seen here. Originally painted white, the
geometrical memorial markers were constructed from Aquia sandstone. Library of Congress.

The Burial Ground

Congressional Cemetery was established as Washington Parish
Burial Ground in 1807. It started on 4.5 acres in the southeast
quadrant of the city bounded by E, G, 18th, and 19th streets. In
1816, the landowner, Christ Church, identified 100 gravesites
in which to bury U.S. Congress members who died in the city.
Eligibility later extended to other government officials.

About 1820, it became the practice here to memorialize
notables with a “cenotaph.” A headstone marks a grave; a
cenotaph usually does not. Of the 169 cenotaphs here, about
fifty mark a burial. By 1876, Arlington National Cemetery in
Virginia surpassed Congressional Cemetery as the preferred
destination for deceased national leaders.

U.S. government property within Congressional Cemetery is
made up of many separate lots—806 sites contain 469 burials.
These are marked with government-issued headstones,
cenotaphs, or other private memorial objects.

Civil War Burials

In 1868, the U.S. Army reported seventy-nine Union
soldiers interred in Congressional Cemetery. The men likely
died at military facilities nearby. Most Union soldiers who
died in the Washington area were buried in the national
cemetery established in August 1861 at the Soldiers’ Home
(now Armed Forces Retirement Home, Washington, D.C.),
and after 1863 at Arlington National Cemetery.
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Black box is approximate
location of arsenal burial lot.

Above: Arsenal Monument, c. 1913. Green areas are cenotaph
locations. Other government

Right: Plate 18, Faehtz and Pratt, lots are widely scattered.

Real Estate Directory of the City of * _
Washington (1874). Washingtoniana \u/
Division and Map Collection, D.C. Public "

Library. Inset: Contract notice from The
(Washington) Evening Star, November
26, 1864. Library of Congress.

A government lot in Congressional became the final

resting place of young women killed in the June 17, 1864,
Washington Arsenal explosion. Their funeral, attended by
President Abraham Lincoln and hundreds of mourners, took
place two days later. Fifteen victims were buried in Range
97-98, Sites 142-146; two others were interred in family plots
in the cemetery. A year after the tragedy, the 26-foot-tall,
white marble Arsenal Monument was erected to honor the
women. Funded by private donations and designed by Lot
Flannery, it is inscribed with the names of the twenty-one
victims below the allegorical female figure of “Grief.”

To learn more about benefits and programs
for Veterans and families, visit www.va.gov
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CORINTH NATIONAL CEMETERY

Union soldiers and supplzes at the Corinth railroad depot, c. 1862. Lzbrary of Congress.

Civil War Corinth

Corinth was founded in the 1850s at the crossing of the
Memphis and Charleston, and the Mobile and Ohio

railroads. During the Civil War, Union and Confederate
forces fought for control of this important railroad center.

After Nashville, Tennessee, fell to the Union in early
1862, Confederate forces withdrew south to the town.
After their defeat at Shiloh in April, Confederate troops

again retreated to Corinth where they came under siege.

Eventually Union forces captured the town and spent
months fortifying it.

In October 1862, Confederate Gen. Earl Van Dorn tried
to retake Corinth. His troops pushed Union forces from
the outer fortification into the town center but they were
ultimately repelled by artillery and small arms fire. The
Union Army left Corinth in January 1864, leaving behind
burned buildings and damaged rail lines.

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs

National Cemetery Administration

“Harvest of Death”

Early in 1866, Capt. E. B. Whitman began gathering information
in preparation for the reinterment of Union soldiers buried in the

Military Division of Tennessee. This huge district included Alabama,

Georgia, Kentucky, Mississippi, and Tennessee.

Captain Whitman, later lieutenant colonel, placed newspaper notices
seeking information on the locations of Union graves. Citizens,
chaplains, soldiers, and officers replied.
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Corinth National Cemetery, from Brut. Lt. Col. E. B. Whitman’s final report, c. 1869. Whitman used
the phrase “Harvest of Death” in his exhaustive report to describe the work of collecting the dead.
National Archives and Records Administration.

Whitman made three major expeditions across the region, stopping
at hundreds of battlefields and engagement sites. Because of

his work, thousands of Union dead were moved to twelve new
national cemeteries.

In May 1869, Whitman submitted a detailed summary of this
difficult project to the quartermaster general. The report contained
sketches and site plans of each cemetery, and data on interments
and service affiliations.

National Cemetery

In 1866, the U.S. government purchased 20 acres, less than
a mile southeast of the city, on which to establish Corinth
National Cemetery. Remains from northern Mississippi,
Alabama, and Tennessee were reinterred here by state
affiliation. Whitman’s 1869 cemetery plan indicates that
soldiers from Illinois, lowa, Michigan, Missouri, Ohio, and
Wisconsin were buried in Sections A-D. Unknown soldiers
were buried on the east and west perimeters. Dead from

the Battle of Brice’s Crossroads, some 50 miles to the south,
were interred by the cemetery entrance.

An 1867 law directed the secretary of war to appoint a
“meritorious and trustworthy” superintendent to manage
each national cemetery. Corinth’s first superintendent
was Joseph Berrigan, formerly a private with the 43rd New

York Infantry.

In the 1870s, the U.S. Army placed marble headstones on
the graves, and erected a brick lodge for the superintendent.
The lodge was replaced in 1934.
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Groundskeepzng among unknown grave markers at Corinth, 1892. National Archwes

and Records Administration.

To learn more about benefits and programs
for Veterans and families, visit www.va.gov



http://www.cem.va.gov/cems/nchp/corinth.asp
http://www.va.gov/

CROWN HILL NATIONAL CEMETERY
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City Hospital in Indianapolis, also known as the Military Hospital, treated Union soldiers during
the Civil War, 1908. W. H. Bass Photo Company Collection, Indiana Historical Society.

Civil War Indianapolis

Indiana Governor Oliver Morton responded quickly to
President Abraham Lincoln’s 1861 call for 75,000 volunteers
to help suppress the southern rebellion. Thousands of
Hoosiers assembled in Indianapolis. Camp Morton, named
for the governor, was established at the old fairgrounds.
Indiana troops served in every theater of action. As the war
progressed, Camp Morton became a prisoner-of-war camp,
housing thousands of Confederates. City Hospital treated both
Confederate prisoners and Union soldiers.

Citizens of Indianapolis celebrated when the Confederate
capital at Richmond, Virginia, fell on April 3, 1865, and when
Confederate Gen. Robert E. Lee surrendered on April 9.
Despair replaced joy when Lincoln was assassinated six days
later. The president’s body lay in state for eighteen hours at
the Indianapolis capitol building on April 30.

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs

National Cemetery Administration

National Cemetery

More than 700 Union soldiers who died in city hospitals were
originally buried in Greenlawn Cemetery. In November 1866,
the federal government hired local undertaker William Weaver
to supervise removal of the dead. Weaver’s men relocated the
remains of 712 soldiers from Greenlawn to this cemetery. All
but thirty-six were identified.

The new national cemetery occupied 1.4 acres (now Section
10) within Crown Hill Cemetery. The government paid $5,000
for the lot. On May 30, 1868, the first Decoration (Memorial)
Day observance at Crown Hill National Cemetery was held.
Some 1,000 people participated in a program that featured
speeches, music, and decorating graves.

The U.S. Army installed two gun monuments and a flagstaff
in the early 1870s, and plaques featuring stanzas from the
poem “Bivouac of the Dead” in the 1880s.

In 2011, land adjacent to the national cemetery that contains
many Civil War dead (Section 9), was donated to the federal
government. Combined, these 2.5 acres hold the graves of
2,043 veterans and their dependents.

Crown Hill Cemetery west entrance in 1901, D. R. Clark, photographer. Courtesy of Crown
Hill Cemetery.
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Detail of Crown Hill National Cemetery layout, 1893, showing
location of the federal cemetery within the private cemetery.
National Archives and Records Administration.
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Woman’s Relief
Corps Monument

The Woman’s Relief Corps, auxiliary of
the Maj. Robert Anderson Post No. 369,
Grand Army of the Republic, received
permission to erect a monument here in
November 1888. Local stonecutter James
F. Needler produced the eagle-topped
limestone pedestal. It was dedicated
on Memorial Day 1889.
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Drawing of Woman’s Relief Corps Monument, 1888. i
National Archives and Records Administration. }j 5
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CROWN HILL CONFEDERATE CEMETERY

Greenlawn Cemetery Toward Reconciliation
i ol N The State of Indiana purchased five lots in Greenlawn On May 30, 1868, the Grand Army of the Republic decorated
| i Oy A | | \RIERY il L L‘ Cemetery in 1862 for prisoner burials. A local undertaker Union and Confederate graves at Arlington National Cemetery.
i i ) 2 A e : ga e charged $3.50 for each wooden coffin. Prisoners dug burial Thirty years later President William McKinley proclaimed:

trenches and placed the coflins side-by-side. Numbered
headboards marked graves. After the war, some remains were
removed by friends or relatives. In 1870, some unclaimed
remains were moved to a different cemetery lot owned by the

The Union is once more the common altar of our love and
loyalty, our devotion and sacrifice . . . Every soldier’s grave
made during our unfortunate Civil War is a tribute to American
valor . . . in the spirit of fraternity we should share with you in

federal government. the care of the graves of the Confederate soldiers.
| In 1906, when the Commission for Marking Graves of The War Department created the Confederate section
Confederate prisoners at Camp Morton, c. 1864. Library of Congress. Confederate Dead visited Greenlawn Cemetery’ it discovered at Ar lil’lgtOIl in 1901, and marked the graves with
some burials had been distinctive pointed-top marble headstones. Five years
Camp Morton S moved anq the lar?d later, Congress created the Commission for Marking
o | » 3% converted into a city Graves of Confederate Dead to identify and mark the
Can.lp Morton, a} training c.amp, Was esta.bhshed on Fhe park. As 1nd1\./1dua.1 graves graves of Confederates who died in Northern prisons.
Indiana State Fairgrounds in Indianapolis after President could not be identified, Its mission was later expanded to encompass all national
Abraham Lincoln called for 75,000 volunteers to suppress the a sing]e monument was cemeteries that contained Confederate burials.
Southern rebellion. Thousands of Indiana volunteers trained authorized for the site.
at the camp in 1861 before leaving for active duty. Van Amringe Granite Four former Confederate officers headed the
Commission over its lifetime. By 1916, it had marked
On February 16, 1862, Fort Donelson, a Confederate Company of Boston,

in excess of 25,500 graves and erected monuments in

Massachusetts, completed |
locations where individual graves could not be identified. &

stronghold on the Cumberland River west of Clarksville, . ,
the impressive monument

Tennessee, surrendered. Suddenly, the Union army had 15,000

Confederate prisoners and no place to house them. Indiana i | in 12109}; SIROIE 5 1;?126186 In 1930, the War Department authorized the addition
Governor Oliver Morton offered to take 3,000 prisoners at Monument at Greenlawn Gemetery, 1910. National — 1iSted the names ot 1, of the Southern Cross of Honor to the Confederate
Confederate dead. nesdlatame. £t

Camp Morton; from this time, it functioned as a prison. T ,
The area around the government lot continued to develop. . A

In preparation for the prisoners’ arrival, soldiers constructed . ey g .
o : The United Daughters of the Confederacy and Southern Club e RN e IO - .
a tall fence around barracks buildings, built stout gates, and H B L

. . . . of Indianapolis petitioned the federal government to move
dug latrines. When the Confederates arrived without winter POlS p 5

the Confederate monument to Garfield Park. The monument
lothi blankets, th f Indi lis donated both.
SO O [T, She WIS B TR e DA QORI o moved in 1928, but the graves remained. In 1931, the

A prisoner exchange emptied the camp in summer 1862, but Confederate remains were disinterred and moved to Crown

it was repopulated in January 1863. The population fluctuated Hill Cemetery. Here they were marked by a modest monument. North nferte Cemetery

until the camp closed in June 1865. But more than 1,600 Ten bronze name plaques, and a bronze inscription plaque Monument, 1909 Alton, ik
Confederates remained in Indianapolis’s Greenlawn Cemetery. affixed to the monument, were installed in 1993. lf%%gig with. éf%e%ag%i? ifﬁjz)ng%ight).

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs To learn more about benefits and programs
for Veterans and families, visit www.va.gov

National Cemetery Administration


http://www.cem.va.gov/cems/lots/crownhill.asp
http://www.va.gov/

CULPEPER NATIONAL CEMETERY

Seat of War National Cemetery Monuments

Railroads connecting Washington, D.C., and Richmond crossed In 1867, the federal government bought 6 acres from Edward B. The cemetery contains five monuments
Culpeper County, Virginia, so this area witnessed major Civil Hill, the brother of Confederate Gen. A. P. Hill, to create Culpeper erected between 1893 and 1910 by veterans’
War battles. Both Union and Confederate armies occupied this National Cemetery. Here lie the Union soldiers who died at the organizations. The oldest honors the service of
area throughout the war. In 1861, the Confederates established battles of Cedar Mountain, Brandy Station, Trevilian Station; in the the 2nd Massachusetts Infantry at the nearby

a supply depot and training base here. In August 1862, Union Gordonville Confederate hospital; and many other sites in Culpeper, Battle of Cedar Mountain. The last and largest,
Gen. John Pope marched the Army of Virginia into Culpeper Page, and Rappahannock counties. funded by the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania,
County and engaged Gen. Thomas J. “Stonewall” Jackson at the commemorates the Civil War service of all
Battle of Cedar Mountain, but failed to secure a Union victory. Pennsylvanians. Other monuments honor the

10th Maine Infantry Regiment, 28th New York
Infantry Regiment, and the 7th Ohio Infantry
Regiment; all fought at Cedar Mountain.

In fall 1862, Gen. Robert E. Lee wintered in Culpeper County.
Brandy Station, the largest Civil War cavalry battle, was fought
here in June 1863. Neither side claimed victory. After General

Lee’s defeat at Gettysburg the next month, Confederate troops
returned to Culpeper to regroup.

As a result of the second Batt<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>